
 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, August 11, 2022                                                                         Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of July 14, 2022 

 
4. Public Hearing:  229 N. Locust Street – Norman Variance (Ref #106)  

Public Hearing Request: To permit construction of a house addition with a basement that is 47.5% of the 
area of the first story whereas 80% is required and a northern side yard setback of 7’6” whereas at least 
10’ is required with a total of 25’ on both sides.  (PIN 19-09-21-402-008-0000)  
 

5. Public Hearing: 21195 S. La Grange Road – Wild Flower Hair Salon (Ref #108)  
Special Use Permit for Personal Services in the B-4 Office District (PIN: 19-09-21-411-002-0000 and 19-
09-21-411-001-0000).  
 

6. Workshop:  213 Nebraska Street – Plantz Residence  
Future Public Hearing Request: Remodeling of an existing single-family home for the property located at 
213 Nebraska Street, zoned R-2, requiring at least 5 variances. Other: Plat of Subdivision.  
(PIN: 19-09-28-204-005-0000)  
 

7. Workshop:  25 Carpenter Street – Kerley Residence  
Future Public Hearing Request: First and second-floor additions to a single-family home for the property 
located at 25 Carpenter Street, zoned R-2, requiring 4 variances. Other: Plat of Subdivision. 
(PIN 19-09-21-415-009-0000).  

 
8. Public Comments 
 
9. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
10. Other Business 

 
11. Attendance Confirmation (August 25, 2022) 

 
12. Adjournment 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



1 
 

 

 

MINUTES 

MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        July 14, 2022–VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    

 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

 

 

Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:31 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, David Hogan, Jessica Jakubowski, Brian 
James  

Commissioners Absent: Dan Knieriem, Will Markunas, Nichole Schaefer 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Chris Gruba, Planner Drew Duffin 

Elected Officials Present:  None 

A. Approval of the Minutes from June 23, 2022 

Motion (#1): Approval of the minutes, as presented, from June 23, 2022 

Motion by: James  Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Approved: (3-0, Commissioner Hogan abstained) 

Chair Rigoni swore in any members of the public who wished to speak at the meeting. 

B. Public Hearing: 324 Center Road, Root Residence 

Drew Duffin summarized the staff report.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to approach the podium. She asked if the applicant had 
anything else to add.  

James Murray, speaking on behalf of the applicant, stated he was available to answer 
questions and address concerns the commission had. He continued by noting that the 
existing siding on the home was done in wood, and the applicant was looking to match 
that with LP smart siding. Colors would match as well. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any public comments.  

 
 



2 
 

There were none.   

Motion (#2): Motion to close the public hearing. 

Motion by: Hogan   Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Approved: (4-0) 

Chair Rigoni asked if the Commission had any other comments or questions.  

There were none.   

Motion (#3): Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a variation from 
Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit 
the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor of an existing home in conjunction with 
proposed first floor addition and exterior remodeling in the R-2 Single-Family 
Residential District located at 324 Center Road, in accordance with the submitted plans, 
public testimony, and Findings of Fact.  
 

Motion by: Jakubowski  Seconded by: Hogan 

Approved: (4-0) 

Motion (#4): Recommend that the Village Board approve the request for a variation from 
Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to reduce the 
requirement that a basement be equal to 80% of the ground floor area of the first story to 
60.55% in the R-2 Single-Family Residential District located at 324 Center Road, in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact.  
 

Motion by: James   Seconded by: Hogan 

Approved: (4-0)  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to contact staff with questions about the next steps for 
the project. 

C. Workshop: 21420 S. Harlem Avenue – Thrift Home and Restoration (The Bridge 
Teen Center) 

Schwarz summarized the staff report.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to step forward, and asked if she had anything to add.  

Priscilla Steinmetz, the applicant, and Patrick McCarty, the architect, approached the 
podium. 

The architect thanked staff for their help compiling information on the subject property. 
He explained that he had an engineer out to assess the integrity of the building, who 
reported that the “shell” was intact. Work would need to be done on the roof, which need 



3 
 

replacing. Additionally, the applicant wants to remove the existing dormers on the 
building to achieve a more modern-looking building. The applicant also desires to change 
the windows to be more modern, in particular the windows toward the back of the 
building, which would have shelving and storage covering them on the interior. The 
proposal would update the shell of the building and then create interior office, storage, 
and retail space. The interior would have an open concept on the sales floor. The east side 
would have the point-of-sale machine, while the west side would be left for offices and 
storage space, with the sales floor in between. For the exterior layout, the south side of 
the building would be considered the front. This would leave the north side for drop-off 
donations, logistics, and employee parking. He stated that the applicant and he were 
looking to comply with all relevant zoning regulations and to avoid the need for any 
variations. The applicant wanted to join the center two of the four lots in question into 
one lot, which would address parking needs for the building. It would also leave the 
northernmost and southernmost lots for other uses and future development. Finally, the 
architect stated that he was waiting for information on the status of existing utilities, 
namely water and sewer, to be sure that they had no issues. He was happy to answer any 
questions in relation to engineering or architecture, and that the applicant could speak 
more to the operations and use of the property. 

The applicant stated she was grateful for the guidance of staff and the Plan Commission 
while they strive to make a difference in the community. She explained that the Bridge 
Teen Center operates out of Orland Park and that the organization has helped over 11,000 
Lincoln-Way students over the years. The current location operates a thrift store, and the 
applicant is now looking to open a second location. The teen center has a job readiness 
program and the second location would help expand that as well. The center has served 
many families in Frankfort, so moving to the Village seemed like a logical next step. The 
job readiness program has helped students from 7th to 12th grade develop job, leadership, 
and professional skills. Since starting the program, current membership tripled the initial 
size. Emphasis with the program was placed on helping students who did not feel they 
had a place they belonged, and giving them a space to be themselves, while growing and 
learning. The teen center also offers jobs to certain teens, currently 15 teens are 
employed. The applicant stated that the teen center also has ongoing community service 
work, which is especially helpful for local high school students who struggle to find 
places to earn service hours which also promoted individual growth opportunities. The 
teen center serves 128 communities across the Chicagoland area, and the National Honor 
Society often connects students with the center for volunteer opportunities. Families also 
volunteer, not just individual teens. Needless to say, The Bridge Teen Center is 
flourishing at its current location, and it even serves as a model for teen programming 
nationwide.  

The applicant continued by explaining how they wanted the proposed thrift store to not 
just feel like a thrift store, but instead to be an aspirational place where students could 
learn in an environment which felt modern. She stated they were looking to emulate Chip 
and Joanna Gaines, and Crate and Barrel in the design of the thrift shop. The applicant 
expressed her intention to promote a clean space that did not feel like a thrift store inside 
or out. Cameras would be installed to monitor donations. The existing thrift store uses a 
trailer to store and organize incoming donations and workers regularly organize the 
donations received and keep the space looking clean. The new location would also serve 
as a place to run job readiness training events, since the current location was too small. 



4 
 

All profits from the thrift store would be to support The Bridge. The existing store 
provides the center with approximately 30% of its operating budget, and a second store 
would allow the non-profit to become more self-sufficient, especially given the state of 
the economy. The proposed thrift store would store and sell donated items such as 
furniture and other home goods, to supplement the sale of clothing and antiques at the 
first location. Plants would also be sold from the thrift store.  

Chair Rigoni asked the Commissioners to focus on the big picture of the proposal since 
the current item was a workshop.  

Commissioner Jakubowski asked how donation drop-off would work, and whether it 
would be open to the public.  

The applicant responded that donations would be accepted during retail hours. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked what intake would look like from an operational point 
of view.  

The architect responded that there was only one entrance to the site off of Harlem 
Avenue. The parking lot to the north of the building would be dedicated to employee 
parking and donation drop-off. Donations would enter the building from the area on the 
plans marked as a dock enclosure and from there enter straight into the building. All 
logistical work would be done on the north side of the building, and the public-facing 
operations, including parking and entrances, would be on the south side. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked if donations would be accepted during all open hours.  

The applicant responded that they would, and that someone would be on duty to bring 
them inside, to prevent any donations from being damaged. Customers were not supposed 
to see the back-of-house work being done.  

Commissioner Jakubowski asked if sales and donations would happen simultaneously.  

The applicant said that they would, but that weather would be a factor in whether 
donations would be accepted or not. The current location accepts roughly 30 donations 
per day, but traffic varies depending on the time of day, different seasons, weather 
conditions. Some donations would be turned away, if they were deemed not sellable, such 
as unsold items from garage sales. Information on the items the thrift store would not 
accept is clearly posted and publicly available, and most people abide by those rules. This 
proposed new location would have twice the space for donations as the current one.  

The architect added that the drop-off space could be closed and locked.  

The applicant explained that donations would not be accepted in bad weather. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any comments regarding the retail component of the 
Special Use. 

Commissioner James stated that given what was shown by the Future Land Use Map 
from the Frankfort Comprehensive Plan, as well as what development exists in the area 
currently, opening the property to a commercial use is reasonable. Ideally the building’s 



5 
 

main entrance would face to the east towards Harlem Avenue, rather than south, but that 
was not feasible. He wondered if future buildings would be built to match the orientation 
of the existing building or to face towards Harlem Avenue. 

The architect agreed that the orientation of the building was not ideal, and that if the 
building did not already exist they would build a structure which faced Harlem Avenue, 
but the applicant had no intention to demolish what was there and rebuild. 

Commissioner James noted that the existing shell was originally intended for an office 
use, which would explain the orientation of the building. He expressed that an important 
consideration for the future should be whether later developments were built to look 
consistent with the existing building or in a way appropriate for their use, which would 
make the existing building stand out.  

Chair Rigoni asked whether the site was developed as a Planned Unit Development.  

Staff responded it was not.  

The architect noted that there were originally plans for four buildings, all oriented the 
same way. The applicant intended to combine the middle two lots for their thrift store.  

Commissioner Hogan asked if the applicant planned to purchase all four lots. 

The architect stated that all four lots were being sold together. The applicant wanted to 
hold on to the other lots for later use or to sell to others in the future.  

Staff noted that much of the northernmost lot was a mapped floodplain, which could not 
be built on.  

The architect asked if an unfinished drive aisle at the Walgreens to the north of the 
property was intended to connect to the proposed thrift store.  

Staff responded it was not.  

Commissioner Hogan stated that the use was appropriate for the space. It did not seem 
like there was going to be much development nearby anytime soon, and he was glad that 
someone was taking an interest in the site. He noted that there were some complexities 
from a use perspective, but he had no real issue with the proposed use.  

Chair Rigoni wondered whether other commercial developments would go that far south 
along Harlem Avenue. Perhaps the office use should remain across all lots, or blend the 
retail use with the existing zoning around it. She noted that vehicle access was 
challenging for the location, and that retail may not be as successful as a result. 
Therefore, a blend of retail with office uses may be an ideal mix. She noted it was 
important that there was a clear understanding of the whole development. The proposed 
thrift store was not like traditional commercial uses, but she wanted to keep the integrity 
of the office use for the other lots. She stated that she struggled with the proposal since 
there were still many unanswered questions in regard to the site plan. She wanted to meet 
the needs of the applicant while also blending with the potential future fabric of the 
surrounding spaces.  



6 
 

Commissioner Jakubowski noted that the area around the development was largely 
residential. Turning on or off this road anywhere but an intersection was often a 
challenge for drivers due to the amount of traffic at peak hours.  

The applicant agreed that traffic there was rough. 

Chair Rigoni stated that there was not much concern with what was there at the moment, 
and that she understood the applicant would improve the existing property. She wanted to 
know how allowing retail in that location would impact the local fabric of the 
community. She did not know what the intention was behind the initial B-4 Office zoning 
was, but was happy to see interest in the property regardless. 

The architect asked if there was any support for allowing the special use on only the 
middle lots. 

Chair Rigoni asked in response if the applicant wanted the Special Use permit for all four 
properties.  

Staff clarified that per the application, all four parcels were under consideration for the 
Special Use Permit. However, that could be changed and the lot or lots granted the permit 
could be made clearer after a resubdivision.  

Chair Rigoni stated that her understanding was that the Special Use Permit was for the lot 
with the existing building, not all four lots. She did not want a Special Use Permit granted 
for undeveloped land without knowing what would go there in the future. She then asked 
about how much activity was anticipated at the loading dock marked on the plans.  

The architect clarified that it was a three-sided enclosure, not a loading dock, which 
would provide protection from the elements for items entering and leaving the store.  

Commissioner Hogan asked if the proposed dock was similar to one at another location in 
Orland Park.  

The applicant responded she was unsure. There would not be any large trucks entering 
the site; the space was intended for cars to pull up and load or unload items.  

Commissioner James asked what kind of truck would deliver larger items such as 
furniture. 

The architect said a box truck would deliver those items, no large vehicles. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the drop-off space was intended for any sort of outdoor storage.  

The architect responded it was not. 

Chair Rigoni explained she did not want anything to be left outside after being dropped 
off.  

Commissioner Hogan asked if there had been any traffic studies conducted for the site. 

Chair Rigoni noted that Cook County has jurisdiction over Harlem Avenue.  



7 
 

The architect responded that no traffic study had been done.  

Commissioner Hogan encouraged the applicant to have a traffic study done to get a sense 
of what kind of infrastructure would be needed and what was there already. He reiterated 
that granting a Special Use Permit to fewer lots was more agreeable than for all four lots. 
It is possible that another party may come along and look to also have a non-traditional 
retail space, but the main concern is with how operations would work, how traffic would 
flow, whether the use and design match the character of the neighborhood, and whether 
the space would benefit the operation of a thrift store. He also stated she would like to see 
landscaping in the area where the screening fence was proposed.  

Chair Rigoni added that the Plan Commission typically looks for landscaping in areas 
like the one under consideration, and that fences were usually reserved for areas with 
more intense uses. 

The architect responded that he had not put much work into the landscaping just yet. The 
limiting factor for landscape screening was the utility easement located near the rear 
property line.  

Chair Rigoni stated that there was space for landscaping.  

The architect agreed that there was space for landscaping and clarified he was just trying 
to manage expectations.  

Commissioner Jakubowski suggested a wrought iron-style aluminum fencing in lieu of 
the proposed white, opaque PVC fencing. 

Commissioner Hogan asked if the applicant had spoken with the neighbors about the 
proposal. 

The architect responded that the sale of the property was not finalized yet.  

The applicant added that The Bridge was trying to be fiscally smart, and would not buy 
the property if they would not be granted the Special Use Permit they applied for.  

Chair Rigoni asked about the intention behind installing the fence along the rear property 
line.  

The architect responded that the main intention for the fence was for screening to give the 
neighbors more privacy.  

Chair Rigoni expressed that she would like to see more passive screening, such as 
landscaping, rather than just a fence.  

The applicant asked whether the Plan Commission was seeking old trees and mature 
landscaping to screen the property.  

Chair Rigoni responded that the Village had experience using landscaping to screen 
properties effectively, and that landscaping was preferable to a fence. 

The applicant asked whether other properties incorporated both fencing and landscaping. 



8 
 

Chair Rigoni responded that other properties had installed both landscaping and fencing, 
and stated that the fencing was commonly faux wrought iron.  

Commissioner Jakubowski stated that the Homeowner’s Association of the nearby 
neighborhood may have some concerns.  

Chair Rigoni asked whether the width of drive aisle on the west side of the building was 
currently 15 feet or would be reduced to 15 feet.  

The architect stated that the drive aisle was currently 15 feet, but it would not be used to 
allow traffic to flow from the south to the north side of the building, or vice versa.  

Chair Rigoni asked about the width of the drive aisles on the south side of the building.  

The architect responded that the drive aisles were 20 feet.  

Chair Rigoni remarked that typically 24 feet were required for the Fire Department. 

Staff clarified that 24 feet is required for drive-aisles with parking on both sides, but 20 
feet is sufficient for access and movement.  

Chair Rigoni asked whether the pavement for the parking lot would just stop without a 
curb at its end. 

The architect said that it would and that the decision to design it that way was largely a 
cost consideration. He noted there was enough space for vehicles to turn around via a 
three-point-turn, but no drive aisles would be designated for continuous flow.  

Chair Rigoni stated that the applicant would need to consider how the proposed trash 
enclosure would impact vehicle flow on the north side of the property.  

Staff mentioned that there was not a lot of buildable area available on the north side of 
the property.  

Chair Rigoni agreed, and noted that the Plan Commission would need clarity on vehicle 
flow through the site to help them understand how the paved area would be laid out and 
allow for access to the building and space to maneuver. She then moved the discussion to 
the proposed architectural changes, and asked the applicant if they were going to keep the 
existing color of the brick. 

The architect said they were not looking to keep that color, and instead change the 
existing red brick façade’s color to an off-white.  

Commissioner Jakubowski asked if there would be any technical issues with changing the 
color of the façade.  

The architect responded there would not be, and that the applicant was intending to 
update the building for a more modern look.  

Chair Rigoni asked what changes would be made to the roof material. 



9 
 

The architect said they would use darker shingles to contrast with the lighter-colored 
walls. In addition, the windows would be single-pane with no muntins.  

Chair Rigoni stated that the proposed design did not match with the architecture of the 
nearby houses, which was a concern.  

Commissioner Jakubowski noted that nearby commercial developments were designed to 
look more traditional and less modern, which was also true for the abutting residential 
neighborhood. The current structure matches better with the local fabric than the 
proposed design, which made deviation a concern. Another concern was with the covered 
windows on the west side of the proposed design. The renderings looked like the 
windows were just boarded up. She requested more detail on the design of the window 
covers. 

Commissioner James noted that there were examples of buildings with similar designs 
appearing in the downtown area. He was unsure whether future nearby B-4 developments 
would want to match the proposed style.  

The applicant noted that the proposed designs drew inspiration from Downtown 
Frankfort.  

Chair Rigoni said that while she understood wanting to draw inspiration from local 
buildings, the look and feel of Downtown Frankfort was unique. Additionally, the 
proposed building was not in or near downtown, so nearby architecture was more 
important to consider and draw inspiration from. By changing the building from office 
use to retail use, the Plan Commission and the applicant would be changing the dynamic 
of the area around the property. She wondered if such a change would set a pattern for 
future development, and was not sure. She noted that while the proposed thrift shop was a 
form of retail, is was different from more traditional retail uses.  

Commissioner Hogan stated that, on the other hand, denying a Special Use Permit may 
result in leaving the property vacant for the foreseeable future, similar to the past 30 
years.  

Chair Rigoni agreed, and stated she was unsure about what to do. 

Staff noted that the existing structure was built in the Federalist style. Staff also noted 
that with the floodplain on the northern end of the property, there might only be one or 
two additional buildings on the property, so the number of future buildings that would 
have to either match or deviate from the current proposal was small.  

Discussion continued about how the floodplain would impact the future development of 
the site. 

Chair Rigoni said she wanted to make sure the design of the proposed building matched 
the fabric of the nearby neighborhood. It was also important to know what buildable area 
would be left over after the lots were resubdivided. Lastly, to make sure that the Special 
Use Permit, if granted, would only apply to the existing building, and not to the 
undeveloped lots as well. 



10 
 

Staff explained that the next steps for the project would include a resubdivision, which 
would allow for the Special Use Permit to be more specifically applied to the building 
and not include the adjacent undeveloped lots.  

Commissioner Hogan also noted that additional detail from the applicant regarding the 
building renderings and proposed landscaping would also be beneficial to the Plan 
Commission. He suggested the applicant consider different designs for the covered 
windows. 

Staff suggested using tinted panes to allow future uses to modify the windows in case 
they wished to use them as windows.  

Chair Rigoni said she appreciated the design considerations which were present in the 
submitted materials. The Plan Commission was looking for clarity now to avoid 
confusion on design elements later. 

Staff asked if the members of the Plan Commission were alright with the proposed 
modifications to the roof.  

The architect explained that dormers and other decorative elements of the roof were 
being taken out because they had deteriorated since construction.  

Staff asked the applicant if they felt that they had enough clarity on the Plan 
Commission’s concerns with visuals and aesthetics.  

The architect stated that they wanted to change the roof to look cleaner. What existed 
currently was a combination of non-essential utility and decorative elements which were 
never completed.  

Chair Rigoni asked where the mechanical units would be located if the rooftop utility 
elements were removed. 

The architect responded that those parts were not designed yet, but were planned to be 
located on the ground in the rear of the building.  

Chair Rigoni noted that may be a future concern for the Plan Commission as well, 
depending on what the next round of drawings showed. The Plan Commission wanted to 
avoid an industrial look. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked that the applicant have more detailed renderings for the 
next time, since what was submitted currently had a big box store look. She said she 
would like some design changes so the building better matched the architecture of the 
nearby homes. 

The applicant asked for the Plan Commission to clarify whether they wanted the brick to 
remain or if they were okay with the brick being painted over.  

Chair Rigoni stated she was looking for a balance between nearby architecture and what 
the applicant was looking to do.  



11 
 

Staff added that the Federalist style of architecture was characterized by red brick, dark 
shingles, and roof dormers. Staff then asked the Plan Commission if they were alright 
with moving away from that design somewhat.  

Chair Rigoni responded that she was, depending on what the next set of submitted 
designs showed.  

Commissioner Hogan said the ground-level elevations showed a long, empty roofline, 
and that he would like to see changes to it to make it less boring.  

D. Workshop: 10235 W. Lincoln Highway – Opa! Addition 

Gruba summarized the case. 

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to approach the podium. 

Steve Francis, the architect for the project, approached the podium. He stated that they 
were looking to enclose the patio so they could provide additional seating during the 
winter or other periods of inclement weather. The addition would match with the existing 
materials. The existing wall sign would move forward and remain in relatively the same 
location: on the gable facing Lincoln Highway. There would also be some minor changes 
to the exterior brickwork to accommodate the larger changes.  

Chair Rigoni asked the members of the Plan Commission if they had any questions or 
comments about the act of enclosing the patio space.  

Commissioner Hogan agreed that the restaurant needed more seating and asked if more 
seats would be added within the existing outdoor patio footprint.  

The architect responded that the reason for the addition was to keep existing space 
available despite weather conditions, and that the overall amount of seating within the 
patio footprint would not increase beyond what it is today.  

Commissioner James agreed that the addition made sense. He saw no problem with the 
use. 

Commissioner Hogan asked if there would be any changes to square footage or if the 
existing exterior wall would be removed.  

The architect responded there would be no change to square footage and the current 
exterior wall would remain. 

Commissioner Jakubowski asked whether there would be four additional tables on the 
proposed outdoor deck area.  

The architect said there would be four new tables.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the proposed enclosure met the setback requirements from Route 
30. 

Staff responded they were unsure, but believed they did.  



12 
 

The architect said he would verify that the enclosure did. 

Staff noted that the setback from Route 30 could be granted an exception as part of the 
Major PUD Change.  

Chair Rigoni explained that Lincoln Highway had unique setbacks, and that the setback 
should be met. She also expressed concern over the issue of parking.  She noted that the 
owner of the former Simply Smokin’ restaurant space met with the Plan Commission 
recently to reopen the space as a restaurant with modifications and the Plan Commission 
insisted that there should be no increase in seating compared to what existed currently. 
The proposed enclosure and new patio area for Opa would make the parking problem at 
that location worse. Other uses have been turned down because of this issue in the past. 
Even though the proposed increase was small, it would be hard to approve the seating. 
Her only issue with the enclosure was with parking, since it would become a year-round 
challenge rather than a seasonal one. (I don’t know what she was getting at here) 

Commissioner James asked if it was possible to consider the building enclosure and new 
outdoor patio separately.  

Commissioner Hogan asked staff how many additional spaces would be required for the 
new seating.  

Staff responded that three additional spaces would be required, per the Zoning Ordinance. 

Chair Rigoni stated that the main problem was the changing availability of parking 
spaces throughout the year.  

The applicant stated that the restaurant was busiest when most of the other uses in the 
PUD were closed.  

Chair Rigoni responded that the restaurant opened at 11:00 A.M., while the offices were 
also open.  

The applicant agreed, but said that the majority of his business came when the restaurant 
was the only one using the lot.  

Chair Rigoni agreed, but noted that it was always possible for the restaurant to be busy 
while the offices were open and sharing the existing parking, and so wanted to anticipate 
that situation. She asked the Commission for comments regarding the architecture. 

Commissioner Hogan noted that he had no issue with the proposed architecture, but that 
the main issue at this site was parking. The Plan Commission had heated discussions 
about parking concerns in this development in the past, most recently regarding the 
vacant building to the east.  

The applicant asked if this discussion was taking place as a result of the additional tables. 

Commissioner Hogan responded that the discussion was taking place because the 
development which included the restaurant currently did not meet the code requirements. 



13 
 

Chair Rigoni added that in the past, the Plan Commission had not considered parking 
when discussing outdoor seating spaces, but that the enclosure of the outdoor seating 
meant that parking became a consideration.  

Commissioner Jakubowski noted that there were options to make outdoor seating viable 
during the winter months that did not involve enclosing spaces, and that they would also 
result in parking challenges. 

Staff noted that regarding the front yard setback of the building, the proposed building 
addition would require an exception from the regulation as part of the request for a Major 
Change to the Planned Unit Development. The existing 150-foot front yard setback 
regulation was adopted in 2002, which was after the building was built, and therefore 
made the existing structure legally nonconforming.  

Chair Rigoni recalled that the setback regulation in question was put in place to allow for 
Lincoln Highway to be expanded in the future. She asked if the other members of the 
Plan Commission were willing to move forward. 

Commissioner Hogan said that he was, but that parking needed to be addressed.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant if there was an architectural reason for the change in 
materials under the front gable, particularly for the proposed cement paneling within the 
pediment. 

The architect responded there was, but that changing the proposed design to match the 
existing brick facade was not a problem. 

Chair Rigoni stated her preference for brick, since the proposed materials do not age well, 
as seen on other properties in the Village.  

E. Public Comments 

There were none. 

F. Village Board & Committee Updates 

Schwarz noted that the following matters that previously came before the PC/ZBA were 
approved by the Village Board at its meeting on July 5: 

• Chase Bank Service/Utility Areas Variance at 20810 S. La Grange Road – the 
ordinance was approved. 

In addition, at the July 13 meeting of the Committee-of-the-Whole, staff was authorized 
to research and draft regulations for electric vehicle charging stations. Schwarz noted that 
some charging stations already existed in the Village, but there were no regulations for 
them. Certain designs for charging stations included advertisement components which do 
not comply with the Village’s Sign Ordinance. Some preliminary research had been done, 
but the Plan Commission should expect draft regulations to be forthcoming. 

Commissioner Hogan noted that electric vehicle charging was cheap, so it was important 
to be ahead of the curve. 



14 
 

Chair Rigoni noted that there should be considerations for how parking lots are set up 
with different kinds of spaces as electric vehicles become a larger and larger share of 
automobiles on the road. Especially with smaller parking lots.  

G. Other Business 

There was no other business.  

H. Attendance Confirmation (July 28th, 2022) 

Chair Rigoni asked the Commissioners to notify staff if they will not be in attendance on 
July 28th, and to respond to staff should they reach out.  

Motion (#5): Adjournment 8:44 P.M. 

Motion by: James  Seconded by: Jakubowski 

Unanimously approved by voice vote. 

Approved July 28th, 2022 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

_____________________/s/ Maura Rigoni, Chair 

_____________________/s/ Secretary 

 

 

 



1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                   August 11, 2022 

 
Project: Norman Variances  
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Request: 2 Variances for addition to existing single-family home 
Location: 229 Locust Street 
Applicant:  Cheryl Miller  
Prop. Owner:  Margaret Norman   
Representative: Gabriel Garcia c/o Ideal Custom Designs, Inc. 
 
Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 12,000 sq. ft.                                       Figure 1. Location Map     
PIN(s): 19-09-21-402-008-0000 
Existing Zoning:  R-2   
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ attached garage 
Existing house:  1,898 sq. ft.  
Proposed house: 2,826 sq. ft.  
 
 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Cheryl Miller, seeks to add a 928 square-foot rear addition to her mother’s home.  The existing 
house is 1,898 square feet, including the garage, resulting in a gross floor area of 2,826 square feet.   
 
The proposed building addition would require two variances: 1) to permit a reduced side yard setback and, 2) to 
permit an undersized basement.  The house is currently existing, non-conforming regarding the side yard setbacks.  
The Zoning Ordinance requires at least 10’ on each side, with a total of 25’ on both sides.  The house is set back  
11’ 5½” from the south side property and 7’ 6” from the north side property line.  The proposed addition would be 
added along the entire back end of the house, extended straight back.  The total of both side yard setbacks is      
18’ 11½” (7’ 6”+11’ 5½”), whereas 25’ is required, resulting in a deficiency of 6’ ½”.   
 
The Zoning Ordinance requires that house basements are at least 80% of the area of the footprint of the house, 
not including the footprint area of an attached garage.  The current basement is 1,133 square feet, which is 87.3% 
of the area of the 1st floor.  The 928 square foot house addition would not include a new basement beneath it.  
After the house addition, the existing basement would amount to 50.9% of the area of the footprint of the house, 
requiring a variance.  The public hearing notice stated that the basement would be 47.5% of the area of the 
footprint of the house, but this was based on incorrect data.  Since the actual variance request is less than the 
amount in the public hearing notice, the PC-ZBA may still act on the variance request.  

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family R-2 

East Residential Single-Family R-2 

West Residential Single-Family R-2 



2 
 

 
Variances summarized:    
 

Variance Request Code Requirement Proposed 
House side yard setback 10’, total 25’ both sides (deficient by 6’ ½”) 7’ 6” north, 11’ 5½” south 
Basement area 80% of 1st floor area (not including garage) 50.9% 
 
Attachments 

• Location Maps, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scales 1:2,000 and 1:750 
• Plat of Survey of existing site, prepared by Studnicka and Associates, Ltd. dated 3/10/22 
• Site Plans, Building Elevations and Floorplans, prepared by Ideal Designs, received by staff 8/3/22 
• Variance findings of fact, submitted by applicant  

    
Analysis 
 

Staff offers the following points for discussion:  

1. There are no trees in the rear yard of the property that would be impacted by the building addition.  

2. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot size of 15,000 square feet, 100’ width and 150’ depth.  The 
existing lot is 12,000 square feet in area, 80’ wide and 150’ deep and is therefore non-conforming 
regarding lot size and width.   

3. The Zoning Ordinance requires that all houses in the R-2 zone district have the 1st floor entirely 
constructed of masonry.  The existing house is constructed of brick siding on all sides and the proposed 
addition will also have brick siding, meeting this requirement.  

4. The Zoning Ordinance requires that the minimum gross floor area of a one-story dwelling in the R-2 
district be at least 2,400 square feet. The existing house has a gross floor area of 1,898 square feet, 
including the garage and is considered “existing, non-conforming”.  The proposed house addition will 
result in a gross floor area of 2,826 square feet, bringing the house into compliance with minimum gross 
floor area.  

5. The Zoning Ordinance permits a maximum lot coverage of 25% for one-story homes in the R-2 zone 
district.  The house and rear yard shed currently amount to a 16.8% lot coverage.  The property, after the 
proposed house addition, will amount to a 24.5% lot coverage, complying with this requirement.  

6. The Zoning Ordinance permits a maximum impervious lot coverage of 40% in the R-2 zone district.  The 
property, after the proposed house addition, will amount to a 37.3% lot coverage, complying with this 
requirement.  

7. The Zoning Ordinance was amended in April 2013 (Ordinance No. 2839) to require a minimum area for 
basements (80% of the first- floor area not including garages).  It is unclear if this requirement was 
intended to be applied to house additions or if it was only intended for new construction.  To be 
conservative, staff has applied it to both scenarios.  However, we believe that in the future, it may be 
reasonable to only apply the basement area requirement to house additions where the proposed first 
floor area exceeds 50% of the existing first floor area, not including the garage.  Such an approach would 
require a future text amendment to the Zoning Ordinance and might be a compromise with any suggested 
approach that the requirement should only apply to new construction and not to additions.   

 

 

 



3 
 

Affirmative Motions  
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variance from Article 6, Section B, Part 1 of the Village of 
Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit a north side yard setback of 7’ 6”, whereas at least 10’ is 
required with a total of 25’ on both sides, resulting in a deficiency of 6’ ½”, for the property located at 
229 Locust Street, in accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony and Findings of Fact.    
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a variance from Article 6, Section B, Part 2(l) of the Village of 
Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit the construction of a basement that is 50.9% of the area of the 
ground floor of the house whereas 80% is required, for the property located at 229 Locust Street in 
accordance with the reviewed plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 

 
 



GR
AN

T A
VE

FRANKLIN AVE

JOHNSON AVE

WI
LL

OW
 ST

N 
LO

CU
ST

 S
T

S LA GRANGE RD

S LA GRANGE RD

0 250 500125
Feet

µ
229 N. Locust - Home Addition (variances)



FRANKLIN AVE

N 
LO

CU
ST

 S
T

0 90 18045
Feet

µ
229 N. Locust - Home Addition (variances)



cgruba
Received







cgruba
Received













1 

Planning Commission / ZBA  August 11, 2022 

Project: Wild Flower Hair Salon and Spa 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Requests: Special Use Permit for a salon 
Location: 21195 S South LaGrange Road, Units 1B and 1C 
Applicant: Sydney White 
Prop. Owner: GNC Properties Unit IV, LLC 
Consultants:  None 
Representative: Sydney White 
Report By:  Drew Duffin 

Site Details 

Lot Size: 35,568 square feet (+/-)   Figure 1: Location Map  
PIN(s): 19-09-21-411-001-0000, 19-09-21-411-002-

0000
Existing Zoning: B4 Office District
Prop.  Zoning: B4 Office District with a Special Use for

Personal Services
Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 building / 2 lots 
Adjacent Land Use Summary: 

Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Office    Mixed Use B4 

North  La Grange Road N/A N/A 

South Residential Single Family 
Attached Residential 

R4 

East Office   Mixed Use H1 

West Commercial    General Commercial B2 PUD 

Project Summary 

The applicant, Sydney White, is requesting a Special Use Permit for Personal Services to operate a salon located at 
21195 S. LaGrange Road, Units 1B and 1C, which was previously occupied by Tracy’s Beautique. The owner of the 
property is GNC Properties Unit IV, LLC.  

Attachments 
1. 2021 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS
2. Site Plan received 7.13.22
3. Floor Plan for the building received 7.13.22
4. Floor Plan for Units 1B and 1C received 7.22.22
5. Findings of Fact completed by the applicant
6. Site Photographs taken 8.3.22
7. Chart of parking requirements throughout the week at 21195 S. La Grange 

Road



2 

 

Analysis 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

1. The site includes the following uses: GNC Consulting Inc, Country Financial, and F. Wayne Gedutis DDS and 
Associates.  
 

2. As proposed, Wild Flower Hair Salon and Spa will require 11 spaces per the Zoning Ordinance. Six spaces 
are required based on the 1,129 SF area for units 1B and 1C, and five parking spaces are required for five 
employees in the largest work shift. For comparison, the previous tenant had five employees and 
occupied units 1A, 1B, and 1C (1,654 SF), which required a total of 14 parking spaces per the Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 

3. Existing parking on the site does not meet the requirements as laid out in the Zoning Ordinance if the 
minimum parking requirement was applied to each individual use. The following table breaks down the 
parking requirements per the Zoning Ordinance: 
 

Tenant Spaces per Employee Spaces per Square 
Footage 

Tenant Required 
Parking 

    GNC Consulting, Inc. 0 25 (4,935 SF, 1 space 
per 200 SF) 

25 Spaces 

Country Financial 0 3 (550 SF, 1 space per 
200 SF) 

3 Spaces 

F. Wayne Gedutis DDS 
and Associates 

4 (1 per employee in 
the largest shift) 

9 (3 per exam room, 3 
rooms) 

13 Spaces 

Wild Flower Hair Salon 
(Proposed) 

5 (1 per employee in 
the largest shift) 

6 (1,129 SF, 1 per 200 
SF) 

11 Spaces 

Total Parking 9 Spaces 43 Spaces 52 Spaces (40 spaces 
exist) 

 
4. Article 7, Section B, Part 5(b) of the Zoning Ordinance refers to adjustments to required parking.  It states 

in part:    
 

Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 
be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements: 
 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner shall 
submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the operation 
will require less parking than the Ordinance requires. 
 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written 
documentation to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or offsite 
parking spaces are available to satisfy the parking demand. 

    



3 

a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large enough 
to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at specific times 
of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours and another 
activity uses the spaces during evening hours.)  

b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall be 
located not more than three hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to serve. 

 

The Plan Commission may choose to either allow an adjustment to the parking requirements, or it may 
choose to table the current motion to allow the applicant request a variance.  

5. In the Zoning Ordinance, “joint parking” is described as a situation when a parking lot is large enough 
to accommodate multiple users, such as for a multi-tenant office building as in this case.  “Shared 
parking” is described as a situation where one activity uses the spaces during daytime hours and 
another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.  For the subject property and its current mix of 
office tenants, with varying work days and business hours, the existing 40 space parking lot exhibits a 
combination of both joint parking and shared parking.   
 

6. Staff took photographs of the site and the current parking situation on the afternoon of August 2nd, 
2022. At the time, the lot had approximately 8 occupied spaces and 32 available spaces.  Staff visited 
the site previously on July 15th, 2022. During that visit, the parking lot had only a handful of cars parked.  
 

7. The hours of operation for the various tenants will impact the availability of parking at different times of 
day and throughout the week. The following table lists the hours of operation for each tenant Monday to 
Sunday.   
 

Tenant Hours 
GNC Consulting 8:00a – 5:00p Monday - Friday (remote Tuesday - 

Thursday), Closed Saturday and Sunday 
Country Financial 9:00a – 5:00p Monday - Friday, Closed Saturday 

and Sunday 
F. Wayne Gedutis DDS and Associates 2:00p – 8:00p Wednesday, 9:00a – 3:00p 

Thursday, Closed Friday - Tuesday 
Wild Flower Hair Salon and Spa 8:00a – 8:00p Monday - Saturday, Closed Sunday 

 
 

8. Unless GNC Consulting returns to in-office work Tuesday through Friday, there will not be a time where all 
code-required parking spaces are needed simultaneously. Based on the current hours of operation of all 
tenants, the time when nearly all 40 existing spaces will be required per code is between 9:00 AM and 
5:00 PM on Mondays. During all other hours of the week, code-required parking will not exceed 27 
spaces, or approximately 68% of the existing spaces.  
 

9. Should GNC Consulting return to in-office work Tuesday through Friday in the future, nearly all existing 
parking spaces would be required per the Zoning Ordinance between 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM on weekdays. 
Between 2:00 PM and 5:00 PM on Wednesdays, and between 9:00 AM and 3:00 PM on Thursdays, there 
would be a 12-space parking deficiency according to the Zoning Ordinance, as 52 spaces would be 
required.  
 

10. The submitted floorplan shows two small waiting areas for patrons of the proposed salon. Parking per the 
Zoning Ordinance can accommodate up to six patrons (per the square footage requirements). Five of the 
six parking spaces would fill each available salon station, leaving one space open. However, it is likely that 
more parking may be necessary to accommodate patrons waiting for their appointments to begin. 
Therefore, the salon may in reality use more than the 16 parking spaces required by the Zoning 
Ordinance.  
 



4 

11. While Wild Flower Salon and Spa may be deficient in terms of its individual Code-required parking, GNC 
Consulting has a surplus of parking due to its current remote work situation for some employees. Per the 
Zoning Ordinance, GNC Consulting requires 25 parking spaces. However, GNC Consulting currently has 
seven employees. Assuming each employee requires their own parking space, GNC Consulting has a 
surplus of 18 parking spaces when all employees are in the office.  
 

12. Appointments for the proposed salon will be made over the internet, in lieu of a receptionist working on-
site.  

13. There will be no massage services offered, unlike the previous tenant.  
 

Standards for Special Uses  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every special use request.  
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall refer to any exhibits containing plans and 
specifications for the proposed special use, which shall remain a part of the permanent record of the Plan 
Commission. The Plan Commission shall submit same, together with its recommendation to the Village Board for 
final action. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find:  
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or endanger, 
the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.  

 
b. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.  
 

c. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  
 

d. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.  
 

e. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.  
 

f. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.  
 

g. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which 
it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, pursuant 
to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.  
 
 

Adjustments to Required Parking  
 

For reference during the workshop, Article 7, Part 5 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance describes the 
circumstances in which the Plan Commission may adjust the minimum number of required parking spaces in the 
business and industrial districts on a case-by-case basis.  

 
a.     Purpose. The purpose of this section is to allow adjustments to the minimum number of parking spaces 

required to avoid construction of unnecessary and excessive off-street parking facilities. Reducing the 
requirements for off-street parking facilities is intended to provide for more cost-efficient site 



5 

development, to minimize impervious surface, to minimize storm water runoff, to avoid construction of 
unnecessarily large storm water management facilities, and to provide more landscape areas and open 
space on business and industrial sites. To achieve these purposes, the Plan Commission may reduce the 
minimum number of required off-street parking spaces in specific cases as described in this Part 5.  

 
b.     Adjustments. In all business and industrial districts, the minimum number of required parking spaces may 

be adjusted by the Plan Commission on a case-by-case basis. The petitioner for such an adjustment shall 
show to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that adequate parking will be provided for customers, 
clients, visitors, and employees. The following provisions and factors shall be used as a basis to adjust 
parking requirements:  

 
1. Evidence That Actual Parking Demands will be Less Than Ordinance Requirements. The petitioner 

shall submit written documentation and data to the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that the 
operation will require less parking than the Ordinance requires.  

 
2. Availability of Joint, Shared or Off-Site Parking. The petitioner shall submit written documentation to 

the satisfaction of the Plan Commission that joint, shared or off-site parking spaces are available to 
satisfy the parking demand.  

 
a) Agreements shall be provided which demonstrate evidence that either parking lots are large 

enough to accommodate multiple users (joint parking) or that parking spaces will be shared at 
specific times of the day (shared parking, where one activity uses the spaces during daytime 
hours and another activity uses the spaces during evening hours.)  
 

b) Off-site parking lots may account for not more than 50-percent of the required parking and shall 
be located not more than three-hundred (300) feet from the principal use that it is intended to 
serve. 

 
When a reduction of parking spaces attributable to shared parking or off-site parking is requested, the petitioner 
shall submit written verification that such parking is available and shall include copies of any contracts, joint lease 
agreements, purchase agreements, and other such documentation to show that shared parking can be 
accomplished. Off-site shared parking spaces shall be clearly posted for the joint use of employees, and/or tenants, 
or customers of each respective use sharing those spaces.  
 

3. Use of Alternative Transportation. Upon demonstration to the Plan Commission that effective 
alternative transportation to the automobile will occur, the Plan Commission may reduce parking 
requirements. Alternative transportation may include, but is not limited to, bus transit, van pool 
operations, car pool/ride sharing, and bicycles. Proposals for adjustments of parking under this 
section shall show how the alternative transportation modes will be implemented, the permanency 
of such modes, extent of the program, the number of vehicles the mode will replace, and other 
pertinent information.  

 
c.     Banked Parking Spaces. As a condition of a reduction in parking requirements, the Plan Commission may 

require banked parking spaces. In such cases, the site plan for the business or industrial use shall provide 
sufficient open space on the subject site to accommodate the additional parking space otherwise required 
by this Ordinance. Such open space shall be in addition to required yards, setbacks, driveways, private 
streets, loading and service areas. Sufficient open space shall be provided which, if converted to parking 
spaces, would:  

 
1. provide off-street parking to meet the full requirements of this Ordinance at the time of application, 

and  
2. ensure that the site shall not exceed the maximum impervious lot coverage as set forth in Article 6. 

 

Affirmative Motion    



6 

For the Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motion.  

1. Approve an adjustment to the total Zoning Ordinance-required parking for the subject property based on 
the availability of both joint parking and shared parking for the proposed salon and the current office 
tenants. 
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a Special Use Permit for Personal Services for a salon located at 
21195 S. La Grange Road, Units 1B and 1C, in accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and 
Findings of Fact. 



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

21195 S La Grange Road

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

8/4/2022 Date:

0.04

Address Points

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels LY

Townships



aduffin
Received







 
Overview Image of Suites 1B and 1C 

 

 
Picture 1 



 
Picture 2 

 
Picture 3 



 
Picture 4 

 
Picture 5 



 
Picture 6 

 
Picture 7 



 
Facing SW, N side of property 

 
Facing S, N side of property 



 

  

aduffin
Received



 





1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                   July 28, 2022 

 
Project: Plantz Variances – 213 Nebraska Street   
Meeting Type:  Workshop  
Request: 5 Variances for remodel of existing single-family home and Plat of Resubdivision to combine 

underlying lots 
Location: 213 Nebraska Street 
Applicant:  Ronald Plantz  
Prop. Owner:  Ronald Plantz   
Representative: Gabriel Garcia c/o Ideal Custom Designs, Inc. 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 6,682 sq. ft.                                                Figure 1. Location Map     
PIN(s): 19-09-28-204-005-0000 
Existing Zoning:  R-2   
Proposed Zoning: N/A 
Buildings / Lots: 1 house w/ detached garage 
Proposed house: 2,602 sq. ft. (gross living area) 
Proposed garage:  648 sq. ft.  
 
 
 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Ronald Plantz, seeks to add an addition to his home and demolish/rebuild the detached garage.  A 
15’ wide public alley abuts the property along the east side property line.  Historically, lots in Frankfort that have 
an alley along one side of the lot are still considered traditional lots and not corner lots.  The proposed house style 
is considered “Victorian Cottage”.  To accommodate the proposed addition and garage, the applicant requests 
approval of the following five (5) variances:    
 

Variance Request Code Requirement Proposed 
House front yard setback 30’ from front property line 12’ 7” 
1st Floor masonry requirement Masonry Wood composite, some masonry 
Accessory building setback (rear yard/north) 10’ from property line 5’ 7” 
Rear Yard Coverage 30% max (608 SF) 32% (648 SF) 
Lot Coverage 20% maximum (1,336 SF) 33.2% (2,216 SF) 
 
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property     Residential Single-Family R-2 

North Residential  Single-Family R-2 

South  Residential Single-Family R-2 

East Residential Single-Family R-2 

West Residential Single-Family R-2 



2 
 

Attachments 
• Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:1,000 
• Plat of Survey of existing site, prepared by Preferred Survey, Inc. 
• Tree Survey, prepared by JGSLA, received July 18, 2022 
• Color overhead view of proposed house with lot lines, prepared by Ideal Designs, received 3.5.21 
• Color 3D rendering of the house as it would appear from Nebraska Street, received July 8, 2022 
• Variance findings of fact, submitted by applicant  
• Downtown Residential Guidelines (Quick Checklist excerpt) 
• Tax Map of the subject property 
• Site Photographs, provided by applicant taken fall 2021 
• Site Plan, Floor Plans and building elevation drawings prepared by Ideal Designs, received July 18, 2022 

    
Analysis 
 

Existing Home & Detached Garage 

The existing home and lot have several existing non-conforming features: 

1. The R-2 zone district requires a minimum lot size of 15,000 square feet, 100’ width and 150’ depth.  The 
existing lot is 6,682 square feet in area, 67.5’ wide and 99’ deep and is therefore non-conforming 
regarding lot size, width and depth.    

2. The existing house is set back 19’ 11’ from the front property line.  The R-2 zone district requires a front 
yard setback of 30’.   

3. The existing detached garage appears to be located less than 10’ from the rear lot line (north).  Accessory 
structures must be set back at least 10’ from side or rear property lines.  

4. The existing detached garage is approximately 750 square feet in area, covering approximately 37% of the 
rear yard.  The maximum rear yard coverage is 30%, or 608 square feet in this case.  

5. The existing house footprint is 801 square feet and the existing garage is approximately 750 square feet 
(total of 1,551 SF), resulting in an existing lot coverage of 23.2%.  The R-2 zone district allows a maximum 
20% lot coverage.  

6. The existing house has a gross floor area (1st and 2nd floors) of 1,383 square feet.  The Zoning Ordinance 
requires that the minimum gross floor area of a two-story dwelling be at least 2,600 square feet.  

7. The existing house is constructed with wood siding.  The Zoning Ordinance requires that the entire 1st 
floor of all single-family homes be constructed of masonry.  

8. The existing basement is 537 square feet, or 67% of the area of the 1st floor.  The Zoning Ordinance 
requires that the basement have an area at least 80% the size of the first floor.  

Proposed Home 

In consideration of the variance requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

1. House Front Yard Setback 
 

a) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance requires a minimum front yard setback of 30’ within the R-2 
zoning district;  
 

b) The applicant proposes to construct the new home at a reduced setback of 12’ 7”, measured to the new 
front porch (existing setback is 19’ 11”).  
 

c) The following table lists the approximate front yard setbacks of the homes on both sides of Nebraska 
Street between the Fire Station (Elm Street) and Hickory Street:  



3 
 

  Address Front Yard Setback Approximation (feet) 

N
or

th
 S

id
e 

311 50 
249 20 
253 24 
247 26 
243 15 
237 14 
231 20 
221 16 
213 19’ 11” (existing) 12’ 7” (proposed) 
211 22 
203 18 
143 24 
139 18 

So
ut

h 
Si

de
 

266 28 
258 45 
248 33 
244 28 
240 30 
236 40 

102 (Maple) 29 
220 22 
218 16 

X 17 
144 10 
136 14 

102 (Hickory) 20 

  
Avg. Setback 
North Side 22 

  
Avg. Setback 
South Side 26 

 
 

2. First Floor Building Materials variance 

a) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance requires that all homes within the R-2 zoning district be 
constructed with first floor masonry (brick, stone, etc.).  All of the existing wood siding on the house 
would be replaced primarily with LP Smart Siding (a wood composite).  The base of the house, 
approximately 3.5’ from the ground, will be wrapped with rock face stone on all four sides.  
 

b) Building height is measured to the peak of a building roof.  The proposed house measures 34’ 11” to the 
peak, which is below the 35’ maximum height permitted;  
 

c) It should be noted that most of the homes along both sides of Nebraska Street between the Fire Station 
and Hickory Street are non-masonry in construction:  There is only one masonry house on the north side 
of Nebraska Street (203 Nebraska), unless stucco siding is considered masonry (221 Nebraska, adjacent to 
the subject property).  There is only one masonry house on the south side of Nebraska Street (218 
Nebraska).  All other homes consist of wood, vinyl or shake siding.  



4 
 

 
3. Accessory Building Rear Yard Setback 

 
a) The existing accessory building (detached garage) would be demolished and reconstructed in the same 

general area, although it will be moved closer to the alley.  Detached garages must be set back at least 10’ 
from side and rear property lines.  Per recent aerial photography, the existing garage appears set back 
approximately 0’ from the north (rear) property line and 17’ from the east (side) property line.  Per the 
survey prepared by Preferred Survey, the setbacks are unclear but seems to illustrate a setback of 
approximately 5’ from the north (rear) property line and 17’ from the east (side) property line.  In either 
case, the existing garage is considered existing, non-conforming regarding the rear yard setback.  
  

b) The proposed garage would be set back 5’ 7” from the north (rear) property line and 10’ from the east 
(side) property line, requiring a variance for the setback from the rear property line.   
 

c) The proposed garage would measure 36’ long by 18’ wide.  It’s unclear from the survey what the existing 
garage’s size and dimensions are, but it appears to be quite similar to the proposed garage.  

 
d) Many homes within the downtown area and along this section of Nebraska Street have detached, rear 

yard garages.  
 

4. Rear Yard Coverage 
 

a) The maximum rear yard lot coverage in the R-2 zone district is 30%.  The required rear yard measures 30’ 
deep by 67.50’ wide, for a total area of 2,025 square feet.  As such, no more than 608 square feet of 
roofed structures are permitted within the required rear yard.  Structures with roofs count toward rear lot 
coverage.  
 

b) The proposed detached garage would be situated entirely within the rear yard, measuring 18’ wide by 36’ 
long, for a total of 648 square feet.  This area exceeds the 608 square foot rear yard coverage and would 
require a variance.  
 

5. Lot Coverage 
 

a) The Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance permits a maximum lot coverage of 20% for a two-story home 
within the R-2 zoning district resulting in a permitted coverage of 1,336.5 square feet for the subject 
property.  Structures with roofs count toward lot coverage.   
 

b) The existing home and garage currently amount to approximately 1,600 square feet for a 24% lot 
coverage and is considered existing, non-conforming.  
 

c) The proposed home addition and detached garage equate to a lot coverage of 2,216 square feet (33.2%), 
in excess of ordinance requirements and will require a variance to further this non-conformity.  

 
Plat of Resubdivision:  
 
The subject property, although 1 parcel, has 2 underlying lots which must be combined as part of the proposed 
building addition and site improvements.  The required Plat of Subdivision has not been included at this time but 
will be provided prior to scheduling a future public hearing.  
 
Other:  
 

1. The Village ordinance requires two-story homes within the R-2 zone district provide a minimum square 
footage of 2,600 square feet of floor area (1st and 2nd floor areas).  The existing house is 1,383 square feet 
in livable area and is considered existing, non-conforming.  The proposed house, after the addition, will be 
2,602 square feet, meeting this requirement and could obtain conformity with this section of code.  
 



5 
 

2. The applicant has submitted a tree survey of the property, which illustrates 6 existing trees.  The tree 
survey was prepared during a former version of the plan which included a front porch gazebo structure 
which has since been removed to lower the number of requested variances.  None of the trees are 
classified as “preservation trees” in the Landscape Ordinance.  2 of the 6 trees would be removed for the 
proposed project, including the two Norway Spruce trees in the front yard.  

 
2019 Comprehensive Plan: 
 
The proposed site improvements employ some desirable elements as listed in the Downtown Frankfort Residential 
Design Guidelines of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan.  The “Quick Checklist” from these guidelines have been 
included with this report.   
 

1. Detached garage in the rear of the property (page B-2) 
2. Historically relevant architectural style that includes multi-pane windows, columns and railings (page B-2) 
3. High-quality wood composite materials, using LP Smart Siding (page B-2) 
4. Not using excessively bright or brilliant colors (page B-2) 
5. A well-defined, pedestrian scale entrance including covered porch (page B-2) 

 
For reference, the following addresses in the downtown have received variances for building additions or site 
improvements:  
 
R-2 Zone Requirements 
 

Standard (R-2) Requirement 
Lot Size  15,000 square feet 
Lot Width  100’ 
Lot Depth  150’ 
Front Yard Setback  30’ 
Side Yard Setback  At least 25’ total, not less than 10’ each side 
Rear Yard Setback  30’ 
Building Height  35’ 
Lot Coverage Max (%) 20% (25% for a one-story house) 
Impervious Coverage Max (%) 40% 

Driveway setback 5' (4' side loaded) 
Accessory structure setback 10’ from side or rear lot lines 

 
213 Kansas (Kirsch) (PC review 1.24.19) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 6,183 
Lot Width: 100’ min 61.83' 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variances granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 13.4' (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setbacks: of 10' and 10' (at least 25’ total both sides required) 
3. Rear yard setback: 15.1' (30’ required) 
4. Lot coverage: 30% (20% max permitted) 
5. Driveway setback: 0.5' (5’ required) 
6. First floor building materials (masonry required) 



6 
 

215 Kansas (Gallagher) (PC review 8.14.08) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 4,950 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variances granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 38.3% (20% max permitted) 
2. First floor building materials for accessory structure (masonry required) 
3. Detached garage side yard setback: 0’ (10’ required) 

 
140 Walnut (McLean) (PC review 1.25.18) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 6,275 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 125.5’ 

 
Variances granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 15.67’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (10’ required) 
3. Lot coverage: 33.5% (20% max permitted) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
200 W. Nebraska (Leonard) (PC review 11.8.12) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 7,000 
Lot Width: 100’ min 70’ 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variances granted:  
 

1. Lot Coverage: 34% (20% max permitted) 
2. Driveway setback: 0’ (5’ required) 
3. Detached garage setback: 0’ from south lot line, 4.1’ from west lot line (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage height: 21’ 4” (15’ max permitted) 

 
210 Walnut (Winters) (PC review 3.10.11) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 11,044 
Lot Width: 100’ min 90’ (approximate) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 130’ (approximate) 

 
Variances granted:  
 



7 
 

1. Front yard setback: 19’ (30’ required) 
2. Building height: 36’ (35’ max permitted) 
3. Lot Coverage: 29% (20% max permitted) 
4. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
5. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
6. Accessory structure setback: 2’ to both north and west property lines (10’ required)  

 
23 W. Bowen Street (Gander) (PC review 8.22.13) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 8,720 
Lot Width: 100’ min 52’ (approximately) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 172’ (approximately) 

 
Variances granted:  
 

1. Side yard setback: 6.4’ (10’ required) 
2. Lot Coverage: 26% (20% max permitted) 
3. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
4. First floor building materials (masonry required) 
5. Accessory structure setback from side property line: 5’ (10’ required) 

 
147 White Street (Lalley) (PC review 7.8.10) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 21,484 
Lot Width: 100’ min 130’  
Lot Depth: 150’ min 165’   

 
Variance granted:  
 

1. Detached garage setback 6.5’ from side property line (10’ required) 
 
44 W. Bowen Street (Carroll/Watson) (PC review 8.12.10) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 16,175 
Lot Width: 100’ min 100’ (approximately) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 160’ (approximately) 

 
Variance granted:  
 

1. Accessory structure (shed) 0’ setback from rear property line (10’ required) 
 
140 Maple (Triezenberg) (PC review 9.8.16) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 6,250 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’ (approximately) 
Lot Depth: 150’ min 130’ (approximately) 



8 
 

 
Variance granted:  
 

1. Driveway setback 0’ (5’ required) 
 
143 Kansas Street (Brown) (PC review 3.25.21) 
 

Standard Provided 
Lot Size: 15,000 SF min 5,000 
Lot Width: 100’ min 50’  
Lot Depth: 150’ min 100’ 

 
Variances granted:  
 

1. Front yard setback: 10’ (30’ required) 
2. Side yard setback: 5’ (13’ required)  
3. Detached garage setback from rear property line: 0.5’ (10’ required) 
4. Detached garage setback from side property line: 2’ (10 required) 
5. Driveway setback: 2’ (5’ required) 
6. Lot coverage: 41% (20% max permitted) 
7. Impervious lot coverage: 46% (40% max permitted) 
8. First floor building materials (masonry required) 

 
 
Affirmative Motions (for future public hearing only) 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to reduce the required front yard 
setback for the primary structure from 30’ to 12’ 7”, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, 
in accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request for 1st floor building materials to allow 
non-masonry siding on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the reviewed 
plans and public testimony.    

 
3. Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to reduce the required rear yard setback 

for an accessory building from 10’ to 5’ 7”, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
4. Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to exceed the maximum rear yard 

coverage to allow 32% instead of 30%, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance 
with the reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
5. Recommend the Village Board approve the variance request to exceed the maximum lot coverage to 

allow 33.2% instead of 20%, on the property located at 213 Nebraska Street, in accordance with the 
reviewed plans and public testimony.    

 
 



S M
AP

LE
 S

T

W NEBRASKA ST WA
LN

UT
 S

T

KANSAS ST

KANSAS ST

N 
MA

PL
E S

T

0 150 30075
Feet

µ
213 Nebraska Street - Plantz Renovation





RECEIVED 7.18.22



cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received





B-4
YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

The Village of Frankfort | 2040 Comprehensive Plan

B | downtown residential design guidelines

QUICK CHECKLIST

The set of questions listed below are framed in such a way that if 
your answer is “yes” - it is likely that the design is on the right track 
towards contributing to the type of character and quality Frankfort 
seeks to maintain. The photos shown to the right are examples of 
residences that fulfill these design ideals. If the answer is not clear, 
or is questionable, you should look for ways to improve upon this 
design element.

Note: All new residential construction, building additions, and 
development in general must comply with the Zoning Ordi-
nance regulations including but not limited to setbacks, height, 
lot coverage, and building materials.

1.  Does the building architecture complement and fit the character of 
surrounding  structures - consider scale, setback, building height?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

2   Does the structure’s architecture delineate and highlight the 
primary entrance? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

3.   Are the proposed building materials consistent with the intended 
architectural style of the home and complementary to the 
materials utilized on the homes in the surrounding area?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

4.  Are simplified roof forms provided that are consistent with both 
the intended architectural style and roof forms of homes in the 
surrounding area? 

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

5.  Are there step-backs to the facade and / or architectural details that 
add depth and dimension, i.e. porches, bay windows?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

6.   Are there interesting architectural details and landscape 
treatments integrated on site that complement the residence?

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe

7.  Are the predominate facade colors / building materials of a 
natural color palette that is complementary to the homes in the 
surrounding area.

  Yes 
  No
  Maybe



Pt. -003

-009

-003

-002

-001

-003

-0
02

-006

-005

-001

-009
-008

-003

-001

-013

-008

-007

-004
-003

-023

-024

-005

-004

-003

-002

-001

Pt. -003

-018

-003-002-001

Pt. -001

-004

-022

-020

-017

-016

-015

-014

-013

-012

-011

-010
-009

-006

-001

-002

-003

-004 -005

-006

-007

-008

-002

-003

-004

-005

-006

Pt. -002

-003 -004 -006 -007 -008
-010

-017-020 -021 -022

-023

-024

-025

-026

-028 -029

-004

-007

-008

-009-013 -015

-016

-017

-001

-003 -004 -005
-006

-007

-008

-009 -010
-011

-012 -013

-014

-015

-017

-010 -010

-001

-004 -005 -007 -008

-015 -016 -017

-020-019-018

-001

-013

-012

-001
-011-010

-009-008-007
-006-003-002

-1003
-1004

-1001
-1002
-1003
-1004-006

-041-040
Pt. 318-002

.12

.25

3.86

.65

.33 .331

.36

Pt. 11.561

Pt. 8.10

.383

.33

PACIFIC ST (VACATED)

UTAH ST

EL
M 

ST
 (V

AC
AT

ED
)

OREGON (CALIFORNIA) ST

OREGON ST

EL
M 

ST

KANSAS ST

NEBRASKA ST (MINNESOTA)

EL
M 

ST
 (V

AC
)

KANSAS ST

MA
PL

E 
ST

(VAC)KANSAS ST

SHERLOCK ST

NEBRASKA ST

LO
CU

ST
 S

T

MICHIGAN AVE (VAC)(V
AC

)

E. J. & E. R.R.

OLD PLANK (Formerly N.Y.C. RR.) OLD PLANK (Formerly N.Y.C. RR.)

-021

-022

Pt. 10

1

11 12

13

1415

16

23

Pt. 10 9

8

8

7

7

6

6

5

4

Pt. -001Pt. -001

SANGMEISTER RD

-008

-009

-018
.57

(V
AC

)

Pt. 3.604Pt. 3.60
Pt. -002

-004 -005

-014 -012

-001 -015 -016

-006

-005

S009315

S008456

S002966

S002882

S003116

S003120

S003123S003124

S003122 S003328

S006961

S009556

S002882

S009556

201
200

210209

216
215

223222

500

202

217

211

204

418

217

211

204

202

100

418

222

222

228

5
7 8 9 10 11 1234 1

1

2

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

Pt. 2

3
41

Pt. 2

Pt. 3

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

12

3
4

Pt. 1Pt. 2

3
4

1

2

3

1

2

3

Pt. 12

3
Pt. 4

1

2

3

1

3

4

1 2 31 2

12

3 4

56

12

3 4

56

Pt. 3

Pt. 2

1S
2N
2S

82
84
86
88

Pt. 6

Pt. 4

Pt. 1

32

56

1

2

Com. Area

1

3 2
1

Pt
. 2

1 2

9

10

16
3.

34

330

10
3.

96
10

4.
18

90.7690.7690.7690.7690.7690909073.33
116.05

33

12
8.

95

129.60

129.60

12
6.

06

15
9.

06

15
9.

06

15
9.

06

15
9.

06

15
9.

01

15
8.

76

15
8.

51

15
8.

26

13
9.

27

80.17

25
.24

64.17

64
.1

3

66

116.11

33

165.14 90 90 90 89.96 90.90 90.80 90.80 90.80 90.64

10
4.

18
10

4.
18

10
0

113

50

55
.87

32
19

3.
68

412.96 404.29325.44

41
.5

7(
R

)
41

.5
6(

M
)

16
5.

22

16
5.

24

16
5.

29

16
5.

29

16
5

16
5

123.50

205

414.91

40.77 101 79 79.96 79 131

736880217264 85 264

158

54 36 56 57 115

16
5

105604551009465

15
5

16
5

16
5

85
80

75
75

75 64 75 90 90

40

125 69200

47 32

61

149
79.6810192

133.05163.95

161.55

80.04

173.32 16
5

12
3.

43

124

113

11
8

16
5

16
5

125

16
5

16
5

75

54

75

89
.2

2

65.86 51.42

157.04

66

1261.47

65

66

66

66

125

12
5

66 66

101.75 43 203 61 100 125

90103100125

80

50
67

98

16
5

125

33
0

16
5

80

135

125

16
5

9

11
8

220

10
7

20
0

20
7.

80
66

20
0

264264264 264

20
0

20
7.

8

66

20
0

20
0

20
0

20
7.

80

264264

528

664
1058

264 264

634

20
0

20
7.

8
20

0

72.5

49.5 49.549.5

66
66

66

99

50 10
16

99

65 67.5

16
5 50

50
50

132.5

50
50

50

132.50

132.5

50
50

50
50

50
50

11
5

132.5

148.5

75
65

13
5

12
5

99
11

5.
30

148.566

148.57

92

16

66

6575 100

15
0

13
6.

5

15
0

12
7.

80

66
66

66

52 73.50

125.5

60

50
50

50
50

50

125.50

50

70

47
58

50
50

50
50

50
50

125.50

125.5

50
50

38
50

12

125.5

61
.8

78.99

33
1.

66

121.58

35

320

35
9

35
9

140.43

1.29

87.2587.2587.25

86.79 87.25 87.25
101.29 95 66.29

65.8395100.83

16
5.

04

16
5.

03

16
5.

03

16
5.

02
16

5.
02

16
5.

03

16
5.

04

16
5.

04

42.34

39.52

85
85

125

125

125

85
85

80
80

78.991006575

125

85
80

150

150

16
4.

95

16
5.

26

909075 7564 9

16

16

50

50

3911

61.83

61.83

10
0

10
0

61.83

30.91

30.91

66

43 33 33

33 33

43
103

203

16
5

6133 39

39

100

125

125

67
98

88
50

125

16
5

90

16
5

16
5

16
5

11

16
5

16
5(

R
) 1

65
.0

1(
M

)

16
5

85.01

85.01

65

65

16
5.

01

35
9.

80
35

9
35

9

33 10

S002882
Bowen's Addn.
2-46
S002966
David Mundo's Sub
R88-008292
S003025
Original Town of Frankfort
2-45
S003122
Kansas Street Resub
R89-034948
S003161
Mc Donald's Sub
10-43
S003328
Rudy Zvonek Resub
R91-027204
S006961
Bartkus Sub
R2001-126568
S008456
Parkview Resubdivison
R2005-133734
S009315
Spencer's Resub
R2010-091301
S009556
Lisburn Sub
R2014-084334

Tax Assessment Map
Revised for the 2021 Assessment

Copyrighted 2021 by Will County GIS Division

Jennifer Bertino-Tarrant
County Executive
Rhonda R. Novak

Supervisor of Assessments

Map Page Will County, Illinois

Subdivision List

Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data
Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic Information System has been produced and
processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made regarding accuracy, adequacy,
completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and aggregate uses of
the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, express
or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be
periodically made to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication.
If you have obtained information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that
electronic data can be altered subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended
that careful attention be paid to the contents of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with
any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any questions to Mapping & Platting at (815) 740-4664.

09-28B-W
Frankfort Township
W.1/2 N.E.1/4 Sec.28 T.35N. R.12E.

1 inch = 200 feet
Plot Date: Jul 08 2021

09-21D-W 09-21D-E

09
-2

1C
-E

09
-2

8A
-E

09-28B-C

09-28C-E 09-28D-W

 















RECEIVED 7.18.22

















1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                        August 11, 2022 

 
Project: Kerley Residence First Floor Additions 
Meeting Type:  Workshop 
Request(s): 4 Variations to remodel an existing single-family home, and a Plat of Resubdivision to 

combine underlying lots 
Location: 25 Carpenter Street 
Applicant:  John Kerley 
Prop. Owner:  Same as above  
Consultants:  Same as above   
Representative: None  
Report By:  Drew Duffin 
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 8,000 SF                                                              Figure 1: Location Map  

PIN(s):          19-09-21-415-009-0000  
Existing Zoning:  R-2, Single-Family Detached Residential 
Prop.  Zoning: N/A   
Building(s) / Lot(s): 1 building with detached garage / 2 lots 
            
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Single-family Residential Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

North  Single-family Residential 
 

Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

South Single-family 
Residential/Vacant 

Single Family 
Detached 

Residential/Mixed 
Use 

R-2/H1 

East Vacant Mixed Use H1 

West Single-family Residential Single Family 
Detached Residential 

R-2 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, John Kerley, is seeking to add first- and second-floor additions to his two-story home located at 25 
Carpenter Street. The applicant intends to remove the existing, detached two-car garage to the east of the house, 
construct an attached, two-car garage to the southern side of the house facing the abutting alley. Mr. Kerley is 
requesting the following variations: 

Variation Requested Code Requirement Proposed 

Front yard setback 30 feet 10.2 feet 

Side yard setback 25 feet total, at least 10 feet per side 19.4 feet 

Lot coverage 20% (1,600 SF) maximum 29% (2,315 SF) 

 



2 

Materials 
requirements 

Masonry on the first floor, no metal Fiber cement product and metal 
roofing in lieu of asphalt shingles 

 

Attachments 

• Applicant Findings for Variation Standards  
• 2021 Aerial Photograph from Will County GIS 
• Photographs of site taken on August 3, 2022 
• Engineering Site Plan dated July 12, 2022 
• Architectural Plans dated June 17, 2022 
• PC/ZBA Evaluation Form for Variation Findings of Fact 

 
Analysis 
 

In consideration of the requests, staff offers the following points of discussion: 
 

• The following table is provided to compare the subject property with the R-2 District dimensional and other 
standards: 

 
 R-2 Single-Family 

Detached Residential 
District Requirement 

 
Subject Property 

 
Comments 

Minimum Lot Size (square 
feet)  
(Single-Family Dwelling) 

15,000 SF 8,000 SF Legally nonconforming 

Minimum Lot Width (Feet) 100 feet 80 feet Legally nonconforming 
Minimum Lot Depth 150 feet 100 Legally nonconforming 
Minimum Required Yards 
(feet) 

• Front 
• Side 
• Rear 

• 30 feet 
• Total 25 feet; min. 

10 feet on any side 
• 30 feet 

• 15.6 feet existing 
(10.2 feet proposed) 

• Total 41.2 existing, 
9.1 on north, 31.2 
on south (19.4 
proposed, 9.1 on 
north, 10.3 on 
south) 

• 30 feet 

Variations for front and 
side yards requested 

Maximum Height (feet) 35 feet 22.5 feet  
Maximum Lot Coverage 20% (for a Two-Story, 

1,600 SF) 
18% existing, 29% 
proposed 

Variation requested 

Maximum Impervious 
Coverage 

40% 36% existing, 36% 
proposed 

 

Maximum Rear Yard 
Coverage 

30% 0%  

Minimum Gross Floor Area 
(square feet, includes 
basement) 

2,600 (for a two-story) 2,777 SF existing, 4584 
SF proposed 

 

Minimum Basement Size 80% of the ground floor 
area 

95% (931 SF) existing, 
85% (1,285 SF) proposed 

 

 
Standards for Variations  

 



3 

The applicants are requesting multiple variations in conjunction with proposed first and second floor additions and 
exterior remodeling. 

For reference during the workshop, Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists 
“findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request.  
 

a. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as authorized in this Article 3, 
Section B, unless they have made findings based upon the evidence presented to it in the following cases:  

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances;  
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  
 

b. For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals, in making this 
determination, whenever there are practical difficulties or hardships, shall also take into consideration the 
extent to which the following facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence:  

 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, 
if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification;  
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property;  
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an interest 
in the property;  
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood;  
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, substantially 
increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially diminish or impair 
property values within the neighborhood.  

 
 

     



Disclaimer of Warranties and Accuracy of Data: Although the data developed by Will County for its maps, websites, and Geographic 
Information System has been produced and processed from sources believed to be reliable, no warranty, expressed or implied, is made 
regarding accuracy, adequacy, completeness, legality, reliability or usefulness of any information. This disclaimer applies to both isolated and 
aggregate uses of the information. The County and elected officials provide this information on an "as is" basis. All warranties of any kind, 
express or implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability, fitness for a particular purpose, freedom from 
contamination by computer viruses or hackers and non-infringement of proprietary rights are disclaimed. Changes may be periodically made 
to the information herein; these changes may or may not be incorporated in any new version of the publication. If you have obtained 
information from any of the County web pages from a source other than the County pages, be aware that electronic data can be altered 
subsequent to original distribution. Data can also quickly become out of date. It is recommended that careful attention be paid to the contents 
of any data, and that the originator of the data or information be contacted with any questions regarding appropriate use. Please direct any 
questions or issues via email to gis@willcountyillinois.com.

Notes

Legend

0.07

1: 2,257

0 Miles

25 Carpenter Street

WGS_1984_Web_Mercator_Auxiliary_Sphere

Projection

8/4/2022 Date:

0.04

Address Points

Roadways

Federal

State

County

Local and Private

Parcels LY

Townships



 
Facing SE, NW corner of property 

 
Facing NE, SW corner of property 



 
Facing N, SE corner of property 

 
Facing NE, S side of property 



 
Facing NW, S side of property 

 
Facing NW, SE corner of property 

 



 
Facing W, E side of property

 
28 Carpenter Street – across from subject property 

 



 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

 We would like to add on a 1st floor master to meet our needs as we plan to live 
there for many years.

We would like to add on a 1st floor master to meet our needs as we plan to live there 
for many years.

We love the downtown Frankfort character and feel like our home will be a welcome 
addition and will add character. 

Agree

aduffin
Received



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

Agree

No this is our future home and we not plan on selling this home

Agree

Agree

Agree

Agree



 
 

Standards of Variation Commissioner Evaluation Form 
 

Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that the Zoning Board of Appeals must use 
to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon 
the evidence provided.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a 

reasonable return if permitted to be used only 
under the conditions allowed by the regulations 
in that zone;  

  
YES              NO 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique 
circumstances; 

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the 
essential character of the locality. 

  
YES              NO 
 

 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if the following seven facts, favorable to the 
applicant, have been established by the evidence.  
 

 STANDARD NOTES MEETS 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape 

or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular 
hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from 
a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the 
regulations was carried out;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for 
variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same 
zoning classification;  

  
YES              NO 
 

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based 
exclusively upon a desire to make more money 
out of the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not 
been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

  
YES              NO 
 

5. That the granting of the variation will not be 
detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in 
the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and 
functional plan of any proposed structure will 
not be so at variance with either the exterior 
architectural appeal and functional plan of the 
structures already constructed, or in the course 
of construction in the immediate neighborhood 
or the character of the applicable district, as to 
cause a substantial depreciation in the property 
values within the neighborhood; or  

  
 
 
 
YES              NO 
 

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an 
adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, 
otherwise endanger the public safety or 
substantially diminish or impair property values 
within the neighborhood.  

  
 
YES              NO 
 

 

 

 



aduffin
Received



aduffin
Received














	August 11, 2022
	PC Minutes 7.14.22 DRAFT
	Binder1 - 229 Locust
	Staff Report PH 8.11.22 (229 Locust)
	1. GIS 1-2000
	2. GIS 1-750
	3. Survey 7.19.22
	4. Findings of Fact 8.4.22
	5. Submittal 8.3.22

	8.11.22 Binder1 Wild Flower Hair Salon
	Binder1-213 Nebraska
	Staff Report WORKSHOP 7.28.22 (213 Nebraska)
	1. GIS aerial 1-1000
	2. Survey
	3. Tree Survey 7.18.22
	4. Site Plan - Color 7.14.22
	5. Color Rendering 7.8.22
	6. Findings of Fact 7.8.22
	7. Quick Checklist excerpt Comp Plan
	8. Tax map
	9. All pics
	DJI_0411
	DSC04840
	DSC04841
	DSC04846
	DSC04851
	DSC04857

	10. Submittal 7.18.22

	8.11.22 Binder1 25 Carpenter

